The Senate

Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs

Passenger Movement Charge Amendment Bill 2008



MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Members

Senator Patricia Crossin, Chair, ALP, NT

Senator Guy Barnett, **Deputy Chair**, LP, TAS

Senator Andrew Bartlett, AD, QLD

Senator Mary Jo Fisher, LP, SA

Senator Linda Kirk, ALP, SA

Senator Annette Hurley, ALP, SA

Senator Gavin Marshall, ALP, VIC

Senator Russell Trood, LP, QLD

Secretariat

Mr Peter Hallahan Secretary

Ms Sophie Power Principal Research Officer

Ms Hanako Jones Executive Assistant

Suite S1. 61 Telephone: (02) 6277 3560
Parliament House Fax: (02) 6277 5794
CANBERRA ACT 2600 Email: legcon.sen@aph.gov.au

TABLE OF CONTENTS

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE	iii
ABBREVIATIONS	vii
RECOMMENDATIONS	ix
CHAPTER 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
Purpose of the Bill	1
Conduct of the inquiry	1
Acknowledgement	1
Note on references	1
CHAPTER 2	3
BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW OF BILL	
Key provisions of the Bill	3
Background	3
CHAPTER 3	7
KEY ISSUES	7
Overview	7
Purpose and nature of Passenger Movement Charge	7
Passenger Movement Charge and aviation security costs	10
Impact on tourism	12
Administrative costs for airlines	15
Consultation relating to the proposed increase	16
Committee conclusions and recommendation	16
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY OPPOSITION SENATORS	19
Adverse impact on the tourism and aviation industries	19

Lack of Transparency and accountability	20
Conclusions	21
APPENDIX 1	23
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED	23
APPENDIX 2	25
WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE	25

ABBREVIATIONS

AAA Australian Airports Association

ACS Australian Customs Service

ATEC Australian Tourism Export Council

BARA Board of Airlines Representatives of Australia

Bill Passenger Movement Charge Amendment Bill 2008

CPI Consumer Price Index

EM Explanatory Memorandum

PMC Passenger Movement Charge

PMC Act Passenger Movement Charge Act 1978

TTF Tourism and Transport Forum

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendation 1

3.49 The committee recommends that the bill be passed.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Purpose of the Bill

- 1.1 On 18 June 2008, the Senate referred the Passenger Movement Charge Amendment Bill 2008 (Bill) to the Senate Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs for inquiry and report by 24 June 2008.
- 1.2 The Bill proposes to amend the *Passenger Movement Charge Act 1978* (PMC Act) to increase the rate of the Passenger Movement Charge (PMC) by \$9, to \$47, with effect from 1 July 2008.

Conduct of the inquiry

- 1.3 Details of the inquiry, the Bill and associated documents were placed on the committee's website. The committee also contacted 12 organisations and individuals, inviting submissions by 20 June 2008.
- 1.4 The committee received seven submissions. These are listed at Appendix 1. Submissions were placed on the committee's website for ease of access by the public.
- 1.5 The committee held a public hearing in Canberra on 20 June 2008. A list of witnesses who appeared at the hearing is at Appendix 2 and copies of the Hansard transcript are available through the Internet at http://www.aph.gov.au/hansard.

Acknowledgement

1.6 The committee thanks those organisations and individuals who made submissions and gave evidence at the public hearing at very short notice. The committee also wishes to particularly thank witnesses who provided fast and timely responses to questions taken on notice; and *Hansard* and Rohl Bradley Reporting, who together produced a timely transcript of the public hearing for the committee's use in preparing this report.

Note on references

1.7 References in this report are to individual submissions as received by the committee, not to a bound volume. References to the committee Hansard are to the proof Hansard: page numbers may vary between the proof and the official Hansard.

CHAPTER 2

BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW OF BILL

Key provisions of the Bill

- 2.1 Schedule 1 of the Bill contains two items:
- Item 1 proposes to amend section 6 of the PMC Act to increase the rate of the PMC from \$38 to \$47.
- Item 2 provides that the increased charge would apply to the departure of a person from Australia on or after 1 July 2008, unless the person departs using a ticket sold or issued before 1 July 2008.

Background

History of Passenger Movement Charge

2.2 The PMC was first called a 'departure tax' and was introduced by the *Departure Tax Act 1978*. The name was changed in 1995 under the *Departure Tax Amendment Act 1994*. The table below sets out the history of changes to the rate of the departure tax/PMC:

Table: History of changes to the departure tax/passenger movement charge

Title of charge	Date commenced	Rate	Relevant legislation
Departure tax	24 October 1978	\$10	Departure Tax Act 1978
Departure tax	1 October 1981	\$20	Departure Tax Amendment Act 1981
Departure tax	1 July 1988	\$10	Departure Tax Amendment Act 1988
Departure tax	1 August 1991	\$20	Departure Tax Amendment Act 1991
Departure tax	1 January 1994	\$25	Departure Tax Amendment Act 1993
PMC	1 January 1995	\$27	Departure Tax Amendment Act 1994
PMC	1 January 1999	\$30	PMC Amendment Act 1998
PMC	1 July 2001	\$38	PMC Amendment Act 2001
PMC	1 July 2008 (proposed)	\$47 (proposed)	PMC Amendment Bill 2008

¹ That Act also changed the name of the *Departure Tax Act 1978* to the *Passenger Movement Charge Act 1978*.

Collection arrangements

2.3 The PMC is levied on departures from Australia on commercial and charter airlines and passenger ships under the PMC Act. The PMC is collected under section 10 of the *Passenger Movement Charge Collection Act 1978*. Under these collection arrangements, airlines and shipping companies collect the charge from departing passengers and periodically remit these charges to the Commonwealth.² The Australian Customs Service (ACS) administers these arrangements.

Purpose of Passenger Management Charge

2.4 The PMC was originally introduced as a cost recovery measure to recoup the cost of customs, immigration and quarantine processing of passengers entering and leaving Australia and the cost of issuing short-term visitor visas. Although it was originally intended to be a cost recovery measure, it has become, at least in part, a general revenue raising measure.³ The Australian National Audit Office noted in 2000 that:

The PMC is levied under Commonwealth taxing powers and is now applied partly as a general revenue raising source. As a consequence, the PMC is no longer solely linked to cost recovery of Customs, Immigration and Quarantine services.⁴

2.5 The purpose of the current increase, according to the Explanatory Memorandum (EM), is to 'partially fund national aviation security initiatives'. Further, the EM states that:

Since 2001, the Australian Government has spent approximately \$1.2 billion implementing a significant number of national aviation security measures. In his second reading speech, The Hon Bob Debus, Minister for Home Affairs, explained that:

The \$9 increase recommended by the central economic agencies has been accepted by government as broadly consistent with the amount the charge would have grown by had it been indexed over the period since it was last increased in the 2001-02 budget.⁵

- 2.6 The Reserve Bank of Australia's online inflation calculator indicates that, when previous charges are indexed for inflation:
- a \$10 charge in 1978 is equivalent to a charge of \$40.11 in 2007; and

² Explanatory Memorandum, p. 3. Note there are some exemptions from the PMC under the *Passenger Movement Charge Collection Act 1978*, mostly relating to diplomats and children under 12 years of age.

Parliamentary Library, *Budget Review 2008-09*, p. 37 at: http://www.aph.gov.au/library/pubs/rp/BudgetReview/Economic_Issues.htm

^{4 &}quot;Passenger Movement Charge—Follow-up Audit", *Audit Report No.12 2000–2001*, p. 13.

⁵ House of Representatives Hansard, 28 May 2008, p. 7.

- a \$38 charge in 2001 is equivalent to a charge of \$44.78 in 2007.⁶
- 2.7 The second reading speech for the Bill also makes it clear that the proposed increase in the PMC brings the amount to be charged back into line with its equivalent 2001 value (2001 being the time of the last increase):

The \$9 increase recommended by the central economic agencies has been accepted by government as broadly consistent with the amount the charge would have grown by had it been indexed over the period since it was last increased in the 2001-02 budget.⁷

2.8 The following table shows revenue raised by the PMC since 2000-01, as well as the number of passenger movements, in recent years and projected for future years:⁸

Financial Year	Passenger Movement Charge Revenue	Number of Passenger Movements
2000-01	\$242.3 million (revenue collected)	8,076,667
2001-02	\$284.0 million (revenue collected)	7,473,684
2002-03	\$290.6 million (revenue collected)	7,647,368
2003-04	\$329.8 million (revenue collected)	8,678,947
2004-05	\$363.8 million (revenue collected)	9,573,684
2005-06	\$374.6 million (revenue collected)	9,857,895
2006-07	\$389.0 million (revenue projected)	10,236,842 (projected)
2007-08	\$412.0 million (revenue projected)	10,842,105 (projected)
2008-09	\$431.0 million (revenue projected)	11,342,105 (projected)
2009-10	\$451.0 million (revenue projected)	11,868,421 (projected)
2010-11	\$471.0 million (revenue projected)	12,394,737 (projected)

_

⁶ Available at: http://www.rba.gov.au/calculator/calc.go (accessed 18 June 2008). Note that the calculator does not allow for a calculation of the 2008 equivalent value.

The Hon. Bob Debus MP, Minister for Home Affairs, *House of Representatives Hansard*, 28 May 2008, p. 7.

⁸ See *Senate Hansard*, 19 June 2007, p. 127 (Question No. 3160). Note that the figure for passenger movements only includes passengers who were liable to pay the PMC.

2.9 The ACS provided the committee with a table showing projected revenue resulting from the increased charge, as follows:⁹

Year	Estimated Growth	Estimated Eligible Passenger Numbers*	Estimate for Add. \$9 charge
	%	millions	\$m's
2008-09	6.03	11.71	105.4
2009-10	6.78	12.51	112.5
2010-11	5.85	13.24	119.1
2011-12	5.44	13.96	125.6
Tota	462.6		

^{*}rounded for purposes of display

⁹ Answers to questions on notice, received 20 June 2008.

CHAPTER 3

KEY ISSUES

Overview

- 3.1 The proposed increase of the PMC drew comment from the aviation and tourism industries and from representatives of airport operators. While representatives raised a broad range of issues related to the PMC, in the short time available for this inquiry the committee has chosen to focus on the following key areas:
- purpose and nature of the PMC;
- the PMC as an offset for aviation security costs;
- impact on tourism;
- costs for airlines; and
- consultation relating to the proposed increase.

Purpose and nature of Passenger Movement Charge

- 3.2 A range of submissions and witnesses pointed to what they argued was a lack of transparency in relation to the PMC. In particular, witnesses considered that there was a lack of information about whether the PMC is a tax or a cost recovery charge; and questioned whether the PMC 'over-collects' for its stated purpose.
- 3.3 The Australian Tourism Export Council (ATEC) told the committee that:
 - ...there has been a very poor flow of information between the governments of both persuasions and the tourism industry in particular as to what the passenger movement charge has been used for. It has been a very opaque process.¹
- 3.4 Similarly, the Board of Airlines Representatives of Australia (BARA) told the committee that:
 - ...although it is collected nominally to fund specific government services, the proceeds of the PMC are not hypothecated. They go directly to consolidated revenue, but the costs of the services that the PMC is supposed to fund are met out of general budget allocations. We view the PMC with suspicion because it is shrouded in secrecy.²
- 3.5 Virgin Blue submitted that it was concerned about the lack of transparency and the confusion about policy objectives which it considered was perpetuated by the proposed increase:

¹ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 16.

² Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 2.

The original policy basis for the introduction of the PMC was recovery of the costs of customs, immigration and quarantine. However, there has been a historic lack of transparency between these costs and the revenue generated by the PMC.³

3.6 The representative from Adelaide Airport said that if it is a cost recovery charge, then:

... another set of questions needs to be asked. Is it full or part recovery? Is it just recovery of the airport side of things? If it is, who pays for costs for Customs elsewhere and why is that not the same system for airports? Where do you stop what is included and what is not? That is obviously something parochial about airport charges. The last thing of all is the transparency that is required. If it is a cost recovery, we think there should be some details shown of exactly how and why the costs are what they are, particularly when you have a projected rise of 25 per cent.⁴

- 3.7 The representative of the Australian Airports Association (AAA) put forward a similar argument, stating that there is a 'lack of transparency' about the purpose of the charge.⁵
- 3.8 The ATEC representative advised that the lack of transparency in relation to the PMC has been an ongoing problem and was not addressed by previous administrations:

For example, the tourism white paper of the former government, supported by the current government and in which I had some involvement, promised as one of its items a review of the passenger movement charge. The previous minister for tourism promised us that the tourism industry would be made aware of the outcomes of that review and be told how the dollars would be spent. That was reneged on. The Department of Finance and Administration conducted a review and that review remained internal.⁶

3.9 Several witnesses alleged that, historically, the PMC had collected more than was necessary for its stated purpose. For example, in evidence, the BARA representative told the committee that '(w)e have done work in the past that would suggest to us that there is a significant over-collection of funds via the PMC relative to the services that they are meant to fund.'7 A similar argument was made by the Tourism and Transport Forum (TTF)⁸ and by ATEC who told the committee that:

4

³ Submission 8, p. 1.

Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 9.

⁵ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 10.

⁶ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 16.

⁷ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 3.

⁸ Submission 7, p. 2.

It has always been the suspicion of the industry that there has been an over-collect of the passenger movement charge against the justifications that were used to levy it and that that over-collect has gone into consolidated revenue.⁹

3.10 The committee sought information from the ACS about whether there was any link between the PMC and the provision of customs, immigration and quarantine services. Officers from the ACS informed the committee that:

The short answer is that it was originally set up to fully offset the cost of passenger processing by customs, immigration service and the quarantine service, and...also to look after some short-term visa costs. In that context the cost-recovery levy that is a tax is collected accordingly, but it is not hypothecated back to the agencies...(T)here is no one-for-one dollar arrangement.

...Because it is a tax, we collect it as administrative revenue and we deposit that revenue into the Consolidated Revenue Fund. Customs is appropriated by government on a departmental basis for its activities at airports, and we do not reconcile one against the other.¹⁰

3.11 The committee notes that it has been clear for an extended period that the PMC is a tax and is no longer directly linked to offsetting the costs associated with operating customs, immigration and quarantine. As previously discussed in Chapter 2 of this report, the Australian National Audit Office noted in 2000 that:

The PMC is levied under Commonwealth taxing powers and is now applied partly as a general revenue raising source. As a consequence, the PMC is no longer solely linked to cost recovery of Customs, Immigration and Quarantine services.¹¹

3.12 Similarly, it is clear from evidence given to this committee in 2001 that the PMC is a tax and is not a pure cost recovery arrangement. As was stated by an official of the ACS in evidence to the committee in 2001:

...the passenger movement charge is a tax. It is not a pure cost recovery arrangement, and that indication of moving away from direct relativity came out when the \$3 increase was made at just about Olympics time. So that is clearly on the public record. 12

3.13 The committee also sought information from the ACS about its operating costs and how these compare to the amount raised by the PMC. In a written response provided to the committee in the very short time available, the ACS was able to give

10 Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 26.

⁹ *Committee Hansard*, 20 June 2008, p. 16.

^{11 &}quot;Passenger Movement Charge—Follow-up Audit", Audit Report No.12 2000–2001, p. 13.

Senate Legal and Constitutional Legislation Committee, official *Committee Hansard*, 28 May 2001, p. 121.

an estimate on what it spends on passenger processing: \$203.7m in the 2006/07 financial year. The ACS said that these costs included the following items:

- monitoring aircraft movements and providing appropriate clearances;
- inwards and outwards primary line processing of passengers;
- inwards and outwards passenger enforcement including hall supervision, marshalling, alert response, passenger statistical card management, physical examination of baggage, use of technology, personal search, liaison with/referrals;
- passenger intelligence/targeting at inwards and outwards control points and in baggage collection areas; and
- the tourist refund scheme.

These costs did not include the cost of air cargo processing and examination.¹³

- 3.14 In the short time available for preparing this report, the committee was unable to obtain accurate information about immigration and quarantine costs associated with passenger processing.
- 3.15 However, the committee notes that the EM to the Bill explains that the proposed increase will partially fund national aviation security measures that are funded by the Australian Government. The EM also notes that, since 2001, the Australian Government has spent approximately \$1.2 billion on such measures, and that this is expected to exceed \$2.2 billion up until the 2011-12 financial year. If these costs, together with the costs associated with customs, quarantine and immigration, are compared against the amount collected by the PMC per annum (projected at \$402m for 2007-08 see Chapter 2 of this report), then claims that the charge over-collects for its stated purpose, while not to be dismissed, must be treated with caution.

Passenger Movement Charge and aviation security costs

- 3.16 Witnesses also questioned whether it was appropriate for the PMC to be levied against airport users for the purposes of offsetting the cost of increased airline security when this was a common good for all Australians.
- 3.17 Representatives of the Tourism and Transport Forum (TTF) argued that aviation security costs should not be borne by the traveller or the industry, because there is a broader public good resulting from encouraging international visitors to come to Australia. In particular, inbound tourism generates substantial tax revenue:

...unlike every other export industry, tourism pays the GST and, for every \$9 spent by a tourist in Australia, \$1 goes into government revenue. There

Answers to questions on notice, received 20 June 2008.

¹⁴ p. 2.

is already a sizeable impost and take on tourists that would more than cover the costs of aviation security before we even start looking at the passenger movement charge, because tourism is subject to GST, unlike any other export.¹⁵

3.18 Others contended that aviation security was a national responsibility. The International Air Transport Association submitted that:

Border protection and security are government responsibilities. Aviation security is no different from national security and just as national security is funded from general revenues so should aviation security be funded. It is simply unfair to push the burden on airlines and their passengers when it is states and their policies that are the targets of terrorists.¹⁶

3.19 Similarly, Virgin Blue also disagreed with increasing the PMC to fund aviation security, maintaining that members of the broader community are clearly the beneficiaries of national security:

National interest considerations are clearly the paramount driver of government regulatory initiatives in relation to customs, immigration, quarantine and security. The members of the public are clearly the beneficiary of these services.¹⁷

3.20 As noted in the EM, the justification for the increase in the PMC is to partially offset the cost of aviation security. In the second reading debate on the Bill, the Hon. Bob Debus MP, Minister for Home Affairs stated that:

...it is reasonable and indeed it is economically efficient to suggest that some of those costs should be offset by those who are actually using our aviation facilities...(B)order protection and security measures at airports are absolutely crucial for the safety and security of tourists and therefore for our reputation as a safe destination.¹⁸

- 3.21 The ACS told the committee that the increase in the PMC would result in extra revenue of \$459.4 million over four years, which will partially recover the costs of aviation security measures. The ACS said that there were about 100 of these measures, including:
- a number of measures relating to enhanced aviation security that is, the upgrading of security at airports and implementation of the Air Security Officer program, application of security regime regulation regimes at all airports, promoting industry awareness and compliance, and placing trained officers on domestic and international flights;
- improved data access for border control agencies;

17 *Submission* 8, p. 1.

18 House of Representatives Hansard, 4 June 2008, p. 30.

¹⁵ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 23.

¹⁶ *Submission 5*, p. 2.

- expanding the detector dog program;
- improving security and crime information exchange arrangements for aviation;
- funding counter-terrorism first response teams to terrorist incidents or threats in the airport environment;
- community policing at airports;
- enhanced CCTV monitoring and analysis capability at international airports;
- funding trial x-ray inspection technology and deployment of explosive trace detection equipment;
- funding increased air cargo security; and
- purchases of mobile x-ray screening vans. 19

Impact on tourism

- 3.22 Two tourism industry representative bodies made submissions and gave evidence about the potential effects of an increased PMC on the tourism industry.
- 3.23 ATEC submitted that the export (inbound) tourism industry is currently under extreme pressure due to a range of external and internal factors, including:
 - the increasing oil price and subsequent reductions in aviation capacity;
 - increasing strength of the Australian dollar;
 - inflationary impacts resulting from labour, food and beverage cost increases; and
 - other external events including, for example, the Olympic Games and liberalisation of visa requirements in competing markets.²⁰
- 3.24 ATEC submitted that the timing of the increase in the PMC 'could not have been worse' and will 'further reduce Australia's market competitiveness in an already ultra-competitive global market'. The ATEC representative told the committee in evidence that businesses were currently failing around Australia because of these pressures and that the Bill 'will contribute further to business failure around the country'. The representative elaborated:

If I can use a metaphor, the tourism industry is like an onion, it rots from the outside in. It is the small businesses in regional parts of Australia in particular that go first. And that is happening as we speak. We have got to the point now where even that strategy for absorbing the costs has come to

20 Submission 3, pp 1-2.

¹⁹ *Submission* 6, p. 2.

²¹ Submission 3, p. 1.

²² Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 16.

the end of its cycle and my members now have to pass on to the customer the price increase from the impact of the dollar and also now the impact of fuel ²³

3.25 The AAA also agreed that the timing of the measure was adverse:

With the tyranny of distance and costs to factor in, and the end-of-the-route dynamics that go with it, it is bad to put a tax up that targets tourism directly. But when you add that to the oil price now, carbon emissions issues and the exchange rate with the dollar, if there ever was a good time this is probably the worst time ever.²⁴

- 3.26 ATEC maintained that the impact of the increased charge was compounded by other budget measures which it considered also had a negative impact on the industry, identifying in particular an increase in visa fees to \$100, and changes to the luxury car tax.²⁵
- 3.27 Representatives of the TTF concurred with ATEC that the timing of the increase was poor from the industry's perspective.

We have a rationalisation of air services routes by our domestic carriers, we have historically high fuel prices, we have a high Australian dollar and there are potential trade barriers on long-haul travel emerging from the European Union. There are significant issues facing the tourism and aviation industry and so the timing of the PMC increase could not have been worse.²⁶

3.28 The TTF pointed out that tourism is Australia's second highest export earner, is worth \$22.3 billion and accounts for over 10 per cent of Australia's export earnings. The TTF said that there is currently a global boom in tourism, but tourism to Australia has lagged behind international growth trends:

Of that our leisure and holidaymaker markets are growing only by 0.35 per cent. What is essentially happening is that, in the midst of a global boom, our most lucrative market is stagnating.²⁷

3.29 The TTF, like ATEC, also identified increased visa processing fees and other government charges and taxes as adding to the overall costs of coming to Australia and decreasing Australia's international competitiveness. Representatives questioned whether the combined effect of budget measures on the industry (that is, increases to the PMC and visa fees) had been adequately considered by the Australian Government:

²³ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 17.

²⁴ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 9.

²⁵ *Committee Hansard*, 20 June 2008, pp 17-18.

²⁶ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 20.

²⁷ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 20.

One of the main questions we have is: was the increase of the passenger movement charge, and, for that matter, the increase of the visa application fee, factored in? Was the impact on consumer travel to Australia modelled before this decision was made? And if not, can we see some modelling to estimate what is the impact on consumer demand to travel to Australia? Ultimately, what is the impact on our \$22 billion export industry of a relatively small up-front charge? What is the downstream effect of that cost? We do not know. We want to know if the government or any future governments knows before they make these decisions.²⁸

- 3.30 Representatives also argued that the PMC is higher than that levied by competing countries. The TTF submitted, for example, that New Zealand's international departure fee is only \$25. The TTF provided the committee with a table showing visa and departure taxes in a range of other destinations.²⁹
- 3.31 However, according to information submitted by the ACS, Australia compares favourably to other countries in the application of passenger movement related charges. The ACS advised that in the United Kingdom, the Air Passenger Duty is approximately AUD\$84.00 for economy class long-haul flights and approximately AUD\$169 for business and first class long-haul flights; and in the United States of America, departure and arrival taxes sum to approximately AUD\$55.00.
- 3.32 ATEC sought a postponement of the increased charge for 12 months:

We would like the passenger movement charge not to be there at all but we accept the reality of this legislation. What we do ask is that it be deferred for a year. It is a much abused cliché, but there is a perfect storm emerging for the tourism industry over the next six months in particular, but indeed the next 12 months as I outlined. We would ask the Senate to amend the legislation for its start date to be 2009 rather than 2008.³¹

3.33 The committee sought an assessment from the BARA representative of the extent to which the increased PMC might affect tourist numbers. The representative said that this is difficult to estimate:

It all depends upon the price elasticity of demand for international air travel. This is one of a number of components of the overall cost of international air travel that are increasing at a fairly rapid rate at the present time. There are increases in charges imposed by the airports. There are increases in fuel charges. There are increases in the other security arrangements that are being put in place at airports. They all combine to result in a fairly rapid and significant increase in the prices of international air travel at the moment and Australia is a very small market at the very end of the world. It

30 Answers to questions on notice, received 20 June 2008.

²⁸ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 21.

²⁹ Submission 6, attachment 3.

³¹ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 17.

is the long haul routes with the very thin margins that airlines earn on those routes for leisure travel that generally are the ones to suffer.³²

3.34 The BARA representative conceded, however, that the effect of the increase in the PMC is just one small component of the increasing cost of travel:

This increase in the PMC could all be overwhelmed very much by the impact of fuel prices on air tickets...³³

- 3.35 The committee notes that if the PMC had been indexed in line with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) since 2001, its inflated value would now be \$46.45, which is on par with the projected increase to \$47.34 The committee sought information about why the charge had not been increased annually in line with the CPI, instead of in one large amount. The ACS was unable to provide the committee with any rationale about why such an approach had not been adopted.
- 3.36 The committee considers that it is difficult to sustain an argument that the increase in the PMC is excessive when all it is effectively doing is bringing it into line with its 2001 indexed value.
- 3.37 While sympathetic to the difficult circumstances facing the tourism and airlines sectors, the committee considers that it is also difficult to sustain any argument that the PMC increase will be in any way significant when compared to external factors that will affect the industry's competitiveness. These external factors will include ticket price increases consequent on the rising cost of oil, the appreciation of the dollar, and other large external influences such as the forthcoming Olympic Games in Beijing.

Administrative costs for airlines

3.38 BARA informed the committee that the PMC imposes significant net costs on the airlines, which they are unable to offset. This problem arises from administrative costs associated with collecting the PMC; and from 'leakage' in situations where tickets have been sold overseas without the charge having been added:

Airlines bear further direct costs because not all tickets issued overseas include the taxes as part of the overall fare received by airlines. Despite this leakage, airlines are still required to forward the tax to the Government.³⁵

3.39 BARA explained that the original administrative arrangements and agreements between airlines and the ACS provided for a 5 per cent tolerance between

35 *Submission 1*, p. 2.

³² *Committee Hansard*, 20 June 2008, p. 5.

³³ Committee Hansard, 20 June 2008, p. 5.

³⁴ Submission 6, p. 2.

assessed collections and actual remittances to the ACS. However, this was reduced to 3 per cent in 1998, and zero in 2001.³⁶

3.40 BARA submitted further that:

It is unreasonable to expect that the PMC will at all times be correctly reflected on passenger tickets. Airlines providing actual carriage are often not the ticket issuing agent. A significant proportion of airline tickets are issued by travel agents not under the control of the carrying airline. Many tickets covering travel sectors from Australia will have been issued in foreign countries by airlines other than the carrying airline. Increases in codeshare practices, the further development of alliances and technological advances (e-tickets, etc) mean that the incidence of one airline issuing tickets for travel on other airlines will increase. Further, the requirement for speedy passenger throughput at check-in is not conducive to close scrutiny of each ticket to determine that all taxes are correctly noted.³⁷

- 3.41 BARA sought the reinstatement of the original 5% allowance for leakage.³⁸
- 3.42 While the committee understands the industry's concerns, the committee notes that this 'leakage' allowance was abolished seven years ago. It is not within the scope of the Bill for such an allowance to be reintroduced. However the committee draws the Australian Government's attention to this matter for future consideration.

Consultation relating to the proposed increase

3.43 All witnesses were questioned by committee members about whether there had been any consultation with stakeholders before the PMC increase was proposed in the Budget. The committee notes that all witnesses indicated that there had not been any consultation on this occasion, or in respect of past increases in the PMC.

Committee conclusions and recommendation

- 3.44 The committee notes that there are many costs to government arising directly from the flow of passengers and goods to and from Australia. These costs are not just confined to customs and quarantine, and new costs are incurred as new threats or events arise and as technology changes. Aviation security is just the latest of these factors. The committee is of the view that it is reasonable that a proportion of the costs of providing aviation security should be paid for by those who actually use aviation services. The PMC, as such, appears to be an appropriately targeted tax.
- 3.45 The committee also notes that, if the level of the PMC is adjusted for inflation over the three decades since its introduction, it has barely increased in real terms. This

³⁶ *Submission 1*, pp 2-3.

³⁷ *Submission 1*, p. 4.

³⁸ Submission 1, p. 4.

increase does little more than bring the PMC back into line with what it should be in any case, if adjusted for inflation.

- 3.46 The committee notes that the tourism industry and the airlines are undergoing a period of particular difficulty as a result of the rapid increase in fuel prices and consequent reduction in air services, and the significant increase in the value of the Australian dollar
- 3.47 The committee draws the attention of the Australian Government to the concerns expressed by the tourism industry about the combined effects of the increase in the PMC and other Budget measures. The committee suggests that modelling be undertaken to determine the extent, if any, to which government charges are decreasing the competitiveness of the tourism industry, and also of possible revenue offsets that might be achieved if such charges were reduced, theoretically increasing tourist numbers.
- 3.48 The committee also considers that industry discontent would be somewhat alleviated by improved transparency in relation to expenditure on services specifically incurred in relation to international passenger movements. The committee suggests that the ACS prepare and publish on an annual basis a consolidated document showing all areas across portfolios where such expenditures are incurred.

Recommendation 1

3.49 The committee recommends that the Senate pass the Bill.

Senator Trish Crossin

Chair

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS BY OPPOSITION SENATORS

1.1 Opposition senators do not agree with this increase in the Passenger Movement Charge (PMC) and are of the view that the increase is poorly timed, excessive in the circumstances and insufficiently explained. Opposition Senators will not oppose the Bill but nonetheless are deeply concerned about a number of issues raised in evidence to the committee and draw these to the attention of the Senate.

Adverse impact on the tourism and aviation industries

- 1.2 Representatives of the tourism industry, airlines and airport operators argued that the increased charge, taken together with other increased charges in the budget, such as increased visa processing charges for non-electronic travel authority markets could not have come at a worse time for the industry.
- 1.3 Representatives said that the industry was under considerable pressure due to a range of external factors such as the appreciation of the Australian dollar and increased international airfares resulting from the dramatic increase in the oil price. They highlighted the importance of inbound tourism in the economy and pointed to stagnation of the inbound market in the face of a global boom.
- 1.4 Opposition senators, while understanding that the proposed increase will bring the charge into line with its indexed 2001 value, are not convinced that the Government has sufficiently considered the impact of the increased charge on this important but currently beleaguered export industry, which is Australia's second largest earner of export income. Conditions now are very different from when the charge was last increased and there is a real risk that the increase will decrease the Australian tourism industry's ability to compete in a highly competitive and price sensitive market
- 1.5 Opposition senators were particularly concerned by evidence from the Tourism and Transport Forum (TTF) that Government fees and taxes significantly inflate ticket prices:

If we add in the passenger movement charge with the visa application fees and the other multiple fees that are levied, it is topping out at over 20 per cent of the ticket, and we know that the ticket is the barrier to travel to Australia, so we suspect it is significant.¹

and from the International Air Transport Association (IATA), which told the committee that studies had shown that a 10 percent increase in the cost of travel can lead to a 15 per cent reduction in travel demand.²

¹ *Committee Hansard*, p. 22.

² Submission 5, p. 2.

1.6 Opposition senators support the suggestion at paragraph 3.47 of the report that the Government commission modelling of the impact of the increased PMC to determine the extent to which government charges are decreasing the competitiveness of the tourism industry, and also of possible revenue offsets that might be achieved if such charges were reduced. Opposition senators are of the view that such modelling should be undertaken urgently.

Lack of Transparency and accountability

- 1.7 Virtually all submissions and evidence focussed on an alleged lack of transparency in relation to the PMC and a lack of accountability concerning how funds purportedly raised for purposes such as the provision of customs services are spent. Several witnesses and submitters also contended that the PMC over-collects, a matter of concern to Opposition senators.
- 1.8 Opposition senators noted that in their submissions and in answers to questions witnesses confirmed that they were not consulted on the increase in the PMC.
- 1.9 Several witnesses pointed out that there appears to have been a significant policy shift in relation to the reasons for the PMC. As pointed out by Virgin Blue in its submission, there is a lack of transparency and confusion about policy objectives:

On one hand, the increase is justified in the Explanatory Memorandum as funding national aviation security initiatives, which is clearly a departure from the original policy objective for the charge. On the other hand, the amount of the increase is justified by a notional retrospective indexing to take account of increases in costs (presumably of customs, immigration and quarantine services).³

1.10 The representative of the Australian Airports Association (AAA) also asserted that there is a lack of accountability in relation to how agencies use funds allocated from the PMC. Representatives told the committee that while all of the major airports (with the exception of Cairns) are now in private ownership, the ACS and other government agencies pay no rent for the facilities they use. This view was strongly supported by Adelaide Airport in evidence to the committee. They sought an allocation of some of the funds raised through the PMC as rental for the space occupied. The AAA maintained that this would improve agency accountability:

But post privatisation and in a true commercial sense it would give some clarity to what Customs, Quarantine and Immigration actually need to identify, and it would give them some commercial responsibility to account for the spaces that they need to do their job.

1.11 Opposition senators consider that there is a need to significantly clarify the purposes of the PMC and to be far more open and transparent about why the charge is being increased and how the money raised is to be spent. In evidence to the committee

³ Submission 8, p. 1.

the AAA said that tens of millions of dollars of free facilities were offered to the Australian Government. Opposition Senators are also strongly of the view that Government agencies should pay for and be made accountable for all facilities they currently receive without charge at the airports. While it may have been reasonable for such facilities to have been made available free of charge while the airports were government owned, it is more difficult to justify this now that virtually all are in private hands.

- 1.12 Opposition senators note that the Board of Airlines of Australia (BARA) has put forward a set of guiding equity and transparency principles which it said should apply if the PMC is to remain in place:
- efficiency consumers should pay charges based on efficient delivery of services;
- user pays/equity consumers should pay for costs of those services actually consumed;
- public accountability/transparency the efficiency of charges levied by government monopoly service providers must be transparent; and
- quality of service charges imposed by government agencies should not reward them for providing poor service.⁴
- 1.13 Opposition senators consider that these principles offer a good starting point for improving transparency and accountability in relation to the PMC.
- 1.14 Opposition senators note the Government is budgeting for revenue of \$459.3 million over four years yet evidence to the committee from the TTF said that this was an underestimation, and total revenue over this period would be an estimated \$600m. The ACS could not provide an answer to the question of exactly what costs the ACS incurred in their service in processing passengers entering and leaving Australia. Likewise, Immigration and Quarantine have not provided this information. They should. For example the ANAO Audit Report no. 1 concluded that the PMC over collected \$19m from airline passengers in 1996-97.

Conclusions

- 1.15 Opposition Senators recognise that this Bill is a budget measure and while not agreeing with it, will not oppose it. However, Opposition senators urge the Government to give urgent consideration to the following:
- deferring the increase in the PMC by 12 months, as requested by the Australian Tourism Export Council;
- commissioning modelling of the impact of the increased PMC to determine the extent to which government charges are decreasing the competitiveness of the tourism industry;

⁴ *Submission* 1, pp 4-5.

- implementing a user pays system for the use of services, infrastructure and floor space currently occupied without charge at airports; and
- adopting similar transparency and accountability principles to those outlined by BARA.

Senator Guy Barnett Deputy Chair **Senator Mary Jo Fisher**

Senator Russell Trood

APPENDIX 1

SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED

Submission Number	Submittor
1.	Board of Airline Representatives of Australia
2.	Australian Airports Association
3.	Australian Transport Export Council
4.	Adelaide Airport Ltd
5.	International Air Transport Association
6.	Australian Customs Service
7.	Tourism and Transport Forum Australia
8.	Virgin Blue Australia

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RECEIVED

1. Australian Customs Service: answers to questions on notice, received 20 June 2008

APPENDIX 2

WITNESSES WHO APPEARED BEFORE THE COMMITTEE

AHERNE, Ms Louisa, National Manager, Public Affairs Tourism and Transport Forum

BAKER, Mr Phil, Managing Director Adelaide Airport Ltd

BENNETT, Mr Warren, Executive Director Board of Airlines Representatives of Australia

DIMECH, Dr Mark, National Manager, Aviation Tourism and Transport Forum

HALL, Mr Evan, National Manager, Investment and Infrastructure Tourism and Transport Forum

HINGERTY, Mr Matthew, Managing Director Australian Tourism Export Council

McARDLE, Mr John Patrick, National Chairman Australian Airports Association

RAMSDEN, Mr Christopher, Acting Chief Financial Officer Australian Customs Service

SOMMERVILLE, Mr Craig, National Manager Passenger Operations Australian Customs Service

WILKIE, Ms Caroline, National Manager Tourism, Tourism and Transport Forum

WIRTH, Ms Olivia, General Manager, Public Affairs Tourism and Transport Forum